I. INTRODUCTION & IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner the Washington State Housing Finance Commission is a 

public entity devoted to promoting sustainable homeownership throughout 

this state.  In pursuit of that mission, the Legislature has empowered the 

Commission to act as an authorized state entity within the federal 

mortgage insurance program.  Respondent National Homebuyers Fund, 

Inc. (“NHF”) is a California nonprofit corporation that has been asserting 

competing governmental authority in this state, exercising privileges under 

the program reserved for authorized state entities like the Commission, to 

generate profits at the expense of low-income borrowers.

II. ISSUES TO BE REVIEWED 

A. The Legislature has delegated authority to the Commission to 

participate in the federal mortgage insurance program as an authorized 

state entity, with special privileges it exercises to benefit Washington 

residents.  NHF is a California nonprofit corporation asserting government 

authority in Washington and engaging in competing activities under the 

federal program to fund lobbying efforts in California.  Did the Court of 

Appeals err in holding the Commission’s interests do not give it standing 

to challenge NHF’s exercise of competing authority in this state?  

B. The Commission was established as a self-sustaining government 

entity with a duty to promote Washington’s housing policies and serve 

low-income borrowers.  With its competing activities, NHF diverts 

revenues from the Commission and its programs, charges higher rates and 
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uncapped fees without supportive services, and substantially increases the 

risk of market disruption.  Did the Court of Appeals err in holding the 

Commission has not demonstrated injury for standing? 

C. The Washington Legislature has not authorized entities from other 

states to participate in this state’s housing market in a governmental 

capacity.  California law prohibits its counties from offering home-

ownership financing outside their jurisdictions.  Was the trial court correct 

to declare NHF’s housing finance activities in Washington prohibited? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Commission Operates as an Authorized State Government 
Entity within the Federal Mortgage Insurance Program to 
Assist Low-Income Borrowers with Homeownership.  
The Commission is a “public body” exercising “essential 

government functions” in Washington.  RCW 43.180.040(1).  It was 

created to help make “affordable and decent housing available throughout 

the state.”  RCW 43.180.010.  One of its primary purposes is to address 

problems in the mortgage market “the private sector [cannot] correct,” 

including common “high interest rates” many citizens cannot afford.  

Wash. State Hous. Fin. Comm’n v. O’Brien, 100 Wn.2d 491, 496, 671 

P.2d 247 (1983).  The Commission thus focuses on special populations in 

need of assistance, such as first-time, low-income borrowers.  CP 376. 
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The Commission is authorized to “[p]articipate fully in federal . . . 

governmental programs . . . to secure to itself and the people of the state 

the benefits of those programs,” including federal “housing programs” in 

particular.  RCW 43.180.050(1)(e), .010.  A key theme across these 

programs is the cooperative involvement of state and local governments, 

with a federal goal of vesting “maximum . . . responsibility and flexibility” 

in state and local agencies like the Commission while maintaining 

“accountability” to the public.  42 U.S.C. § 1437; see Resident Action 

Council v. Seattle Hous. Auth., 177 Wn.2d 417, 429, 327 P.3d 600 (2013) 

(“RAC”). 

This case concerns one particular federal housing program within 

this established cooperative framework: the mortgage insurance program.  

Under that program, a part of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (“HUD”) known as the Federal Housing Administration 

(“FHA”) “provides mortgage insurance on loans made by FHA-approved 

lenders” to homebuyers in need of assistance.  HUD, The FHA, HUD.GOV 

(2018).1  Lenders provided such insurance are afforded “protection against 

losses” so long as the loans “meet certain requirements established by 

FHA.”  Id.  One such requirement is that the homebuyer must pay at least 

                                                 
1 Available at https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/housing/fhahistory (last visited July 
10, 2018). 

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/housing/fhahistory


5 

a 3.5 percent down-payment, decreasing risk and promoting responsible 

lending.  See 12 U.S.C. § 1709(b)(9)(A). 

To prevent circumvention of the down-payment requirement, 

restrictions are also placed on the financial assistance a borrower may 

receive.  For one thing, a “‘person or entity that financially benefits from 

the transaction’” is not allowed to fund any portion of the required down-

payment.  FHA: Proh’d Sources of Min. Cash Inv. Under NHA—Interp. 

Rule, 77 Fed. Reg. 72219, 72221 (Dec. 5, 2012) (“FHA Rule”) (quoting 

12 U.S.C. § 1709(b)(9)(C)).  More broadly, gifts of down-payment funds 

are generally prohibited except from a specified list of acceptable sources.  

See HUD Handbook 4000.1 at 230 (2016) (“Handbook”).  

Importantly, these restrictions on financial assistance do not apply 

to state or local government entities.  See FHA Rule at 72220; Handbook 

at 225-26.  That is because, unlike some nonprofits, state and local 

governments have a strong track record of providing “various services to 

assist citizens within their jurisdictions in attaining affordable housing 

options.”  FHA Rule at 72220-22.  On this basis, authorized state and local 

entities are at liberty to fund mandatory down-payments “when acting in 

their governmental capacity . . . .”  Handbook at 226 (emphasis added). 

This is true of the Commission, which offers numerous tailored 

programs that help with the down-payment and closing costs of a home 
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purchase.  See CP 376-77.  These programs offer low- or no-interest loans 

to eligible borrowers, with payment deferred until the primary mortgage is 

paid off or the home is sold or refinanced.  CP 386-87.  The programs also 

include prescreening, borrower education and counseling, and caps on 

lender fees.  CP 374-75, 378-81.  The Commission generates program 

revenues by selling the primary mortgages as securities.  CP 404-06.  All 

such revenues are used to support the Commission’s programs and provide 

more loans for Washington residents.  CP 402-03, 409-11, 1347-50.  

B. NHF Has Been Invoking State Governmental Authority in 
Washington to Generate and Sell Federally-Insured Mortgages 
for Profit, at the Expense of Low-Income Borrowers. 
NHF is a California nonprofit corporation that was created to 

subsidize federally insured mortgages nationwide at a profit.  See, e.g., CP 

480-81.  It is the creation of Respondents Rural County Representatives of 

California (“RCRC”) and Golden State Finance Authority (“GSFA”), each 

made up of several rural California counties.  CP 423, 434, 480-81, 530-

39, 541.  RCRC lobbies on behalf of its members, while GSFA offers 

down-payment assistance to borrowers in California.  CP 423, 435. 

To subsidize federally insured mortgages nationwide, NHF 

initially sought approval from HUD.  CP 553, 566-69.  HUD rejected 

NHF’s proposal, noting it was unsure it even had “the authority to allow 

NHF to do business outside the physical jurisdictions of the Governmental 
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entities that created NHF.”  CP 580, 471-73.  NHF came to realize HUD 

has no procedures in place to adjudicate disputes over the allocation of 

state authority within the mortgage insurance program.  CP 1425-34.   

NHF then proceeded with its plan for nationwide expansion 

without approaching HUD.  See CP 486, 521-22.  In 2014, NHF began 

offering down-payment assistance in a number of states outside California, 

including Washington.  CP 486-87, 496.  NHF’s assistance is in the form 

of a gift, or what NHF has called a “grant,” which covers the borrower’s 

minimum down-payment.  CP 485-87, 630.  NHF bundles and sells the 

subsidized mortgages as securities to generate revenues.  CP 453-54, 502-

07, 516-17, 544. 

When primary lenders originally indicated on HUD forms that the 

down-payment assistance NHF provided came from a nonprofit, the 

mortgage loans were not approved for federal insurance.  CP 613-18.  

Without federal insurance backing, NHF could not bundle and sell the 

mortgages for a substantial profit as planned.  See CP 453-56, 469, 499-

507, 510, 516-17, 523.  NHF thus began telling lenders to indicate that its 

funds come from an instrumentality of government.  See CP 613-18.  NHF 

also actively marketed itself as governmental.  See, e.g., CP 630.   

In short, NHF is falsely claiming governmental authority in 

Washington to operate a program designed to maximize revenues at the 
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expense of low-income borrowers.  Its program charges higher interest 

rates and fees for greater profits.  CP 1321-22, 1326.  A higher rate means 

greater monthly payments for the life of the loan, while more fees give 

lenders an incentive to refer unsuspecting borrowers to NHF’s program 

regardless of terms.  CP 1317-19, 1321-22, 1326.  This focus on revenues 

at the expense of borrowers is exactly why only governmental entities are 

permitted to offer this kind of assistance.  See FHA Rule at 72220-22.  In 

2014 and 2015, NHF generated and sold $688,030,091 in Washington 

mortgages, making millions in profits.  CP 633, 698.2     

C. The Commission Has Suffered Numerous Forms of Injury as a 
Result of NHF’s Activities.  
The record reflects that the Commission has suffered numerous 

injuries from NHF’s operations.  First, the mere presence of NHF’s 

program is interfering with the Commission’s role as an authorized 

Washington agency within the mortgage insurance program.  RCW 

43.180.050.  Second, NHF is diverting revenues from the Commission’s 

public programs.  Those revenues are being sent instead to California for 

RCRC’s use on local lobbying efforts—not supportive services for 

borrowers or additional aid for Washington residents.  See CP 423-30, 

457-66, 510-11, 526-27, 530, 544, 546, 671-72, 703-04, 1511.  Third, 

NHF is harming the Commission’s constituents with disadvantageous 

                                                 
2 The Court of Appeals incorrectly reported this figure as $688 thousand.  Op. at 9. 
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terms and no homebuyer education, thus increasing the risk of defaults.  

See, e.g., CP 389, 511, 1317-19, 1321-22, 1326, 1361-64.  Fourth, NHF is 

thwarting the Legislature’s express preference for loans, rather than gifts 

or “grants,” to low-income borrowers receiving aid.  See RCW 

43.180.050(1)(d) (directing Commission to “[m]ake loans for down 

payment assistance to home buyers” (emphasis added)).  Finally, NHF’s 

harmful conduct risks serious disruption in Washington’s housing market, 

given the sheer volume of mortgages at issue.  See CP 633, 698.   

D. After Learning NHF Was Pretending to Be a Governmental 
Program in Washington, the Commission Filed This Lawsuit. 
The Commission filed this lawsuit in 2015, arguing that NHF was 

unlawfully invoking governmental authority in this state and interfering 

with the Commission’s mission and programs.  CP 1-2, 8-9.  Based on its 

lack of authority, the trial court declared that NHF’s housing activities in 

Washington are prohibited by law.  CP 1287.  NHF appealed, and the 

Court of Appeals reversed solely on the basis that the Commission lacks 

standing.  Specifically, that court held the Commission is not within the 

applicable zone of interests under Washington or federal law, because it is 

merely a participant in the mortgage insurance program.  Op. at 7-8.  The 

court also held that the Commission failed to show injury for standing, 

because it did not provide specific evidence of economic loss.  Id. at 9-10.  
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IV. ARGUMENT 

The Court of Appeals’ refusal to consider the Commission’s 

challenge to NHF’s allegedly unauthorized competition conflicts with this 

Court’s precedents and presents an issue of substantial public interest.  In 

particular, the decision conflicts with this Court’s cases (1) recognizing 

the right of specially authorized government entities to challenge allegedly 

unauthorized competitors, (2) establishing the importance of state law and 

authorization within cooperative federal programs, and (3) establishing 

that the injury component of standing is a modest requirement that is 

presumed to be met in such cases.  The Court of Appeals’ failure to follow 

these precedents, and the public’s interest in preserving a statutory 

framework that provides low-income borrowers with safe and affordable 

access to housing, warrants review.  RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). 

A. This Court’s Precedents Establish that, as an Authorized State 
Entity, the Commission Has a Sufficient Interest for Standing. 
The purpose of the standing doctrine is to ensure each case is 

“brought and defended by the parties whose rights and interests are at 

stake.”  Riverview Comm’y Grp. v. Spencer & Livingston, 181 Wn.2d 888, 

893, 337 P.3d 1076 (2014).  Typically, this means a claimant must show 

injury within the “zone of interests” of a relevant legal provision.  State v. 

Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 552, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014).  This test is “not 

meant to be especially demanding.”  Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades 
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Council v. Apprenticeship & Training Council, 129 Wn.2d 787, 797, 920 

P.2d 581 (1996) (internal quotes omitted).   

The Commission has standing because the Washington Legislature 

has authorized the Commission, and no other statewide entity, to 

participate as a government entity in the federal mortgage insurance 

program in this state.  See RCW 43.180.010 (creating Commission to 

perform “recognized governmental function” of assisting with affordable 

housing and providing “affordable rates” through federal programs); RCW 

43.180.050(1)(d)-(e) (empowering Commission to “[p]articipate fully” in 

federal housing programs and to provide “loans for down payment 

assistance”).  In concluding that the Commission is not within the zone of 

interests of Washington law, the Court of Appeals ignored this Court’s 

precedents addressing such delegated authority.  See Op. at 7-8.   

Specifically, this Court repeatedly has held that authorized actors 

have standing, as a matter of law, to enjoin competitors lacking the same 

requisite authority.  See Puget Sound Traction, Light & Pwr. Co. v. 

Grassmeyer, 102 Wash. 482, 490-91, 173 P. 504 (1918) (noting someone 

authorized to conduct a regulated business “is entitled to injunctive relief” 

against anyone “who assumes to exercise the privilege . . . in the absence 

of authority”); Day v. Inland Empire Optical, Inc., 76 Wn.2d 407, 416-17, 

456 P.2d 1011 (1969) (holding “licensed members of a . . . trade . . . may 
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[] utilize the courts to prevent unlicensed persons from engaging in the . . . 

trade”).  The Court of Appeals’ opinion did not even address these cases, 

and it conflicts with them, given that the Commission is an authorized 

actor challenging an allegedly unauthorized competitor in NHF. 

In a parallel line of authorities, this Court has also made clear that 

an authorized public agency may challenge another entity for engaging in 

unauthorized governmental competition in its territory.  See Skagit Cnty. 

Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 304 v. Skagit Cnty. Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1, 177 

Wn.2d 718, 723-27, 305 P.3d 1079 (2013) (holding one public hospital 

district could be enjoined from “raid[ing] the territory of another”); 

Alderwood Water Dist. v. Pope & Talbot, Inc., 62 Wn.2d 319, 321, 382 

P.2d 639 (1963) (noting courts should “closely” analyze disputes among 

“potentially competing municipal corporations”).   

The Court of Appeals distinguished these latter cases on the basis 

that they involved competition between government entities, whereas 

NHF is a nonprofit.  Op. at 9 n.4.  But this misses the point: NHF is 

engaging in activities that require governmental authority in this state, 

including by asserting that its mortgage subsidies are governmental.  The 

Legislature has delegated such authority to the Commission, and not to 

NHF.  Skagit and Alderwood stand for the proposition that such 
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delegations are impliedly exclusive, and that an authorized government 

entity may challenge the exercise of competing authority in its territory. 

Moreover, as this Court spelled out in Alderwood, adjudicating 

such a dispute is especially important when “revenue is derived from the 

performance of services” and unauthorized duplication “could result in a 

serious impairment of the ‘raided’ [governmental entity’s] financial 

position.”  Alderwood, 62 Wn.2d at 322.  That remains true regardless of 

whether the unauthorized competitor is private or public.  Here, the 

Commission is a self-funded entity by design, generating revenues from 

its own public programs for the benefit of Washington residents over time.  

See RCW 43.180.010; CP 407-08.  Resolving this dispute over NHF’s 

allegedly unauthorized competition is thus especially appropriate. 

The Court of Appeals’ reasoning was thus directly contrary to this 

Court’s precedents, in multiple respects.  First, the court concluded that 

the Commission lacks standing because it is not the only authorized 

participant in the mortgage insurance program.  Op. at 8.  The mere fact 

that the Legislature delegated similar authority to certain local agencies, 

however, does not bar the Commission from challenging NHF’s lack of 

authority.  As this Court has made clear, an authorized actor has standing 

whether its authority is singular or shared—in either case, it falls within 

the relevant zone of interests and may challenge an unauthorized 
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competitor.  See Puget Sound, 102 Wash. at 490 (noting authority need not 

be “exclusive in the sense that the sovereign power may not grant a similar 

right to another” because “it is exclusive against any one who assumes to 

exercise the privilege . . . in the absence of authority”).     

Second, the Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that the 

Commission lacks standing because it has not been granted regulatory 

enforcement powers.  Op. at 7.  The Commission is not seeking to regulate 

NHF, however, but only to exclude it from a restricted domain in which 

the Commission acts as an authorized state entity.  This Court’s cases 

make clear that the Commission’s delegated authority, standing alone, is 

sufficient for this purpose.  See, e.g., Puget Sound, 102 Wash. at 490-91; 

Day, 76 Wn.2d at 416-17; Skagit, 177 Wn.2d at 723-27.  In such cases, 

authorized actors have had standing without regulatory power. 

Third, the Court of Appeals reasoned that the Commission’s basis 

for standing improperly depends on the merits.  Op. at 8-9 (citing To-Ro 

Trade Shows v. Collins, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001)).  To 

begin with, To-Ro does not indicate that standing cannot overlap with the 

merits of a dispute.  See 144 Wn.2d at 411 (requiring only that claimant’s 

“interests” be “direct and substantial”).  Regardless, there is no overlap 

here.  As this Court’s precedents establish, standing in such a case depends 

only on whether the claimant has special authority; if so, the claimant may 
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challenge its competitor’s lack of such authority, which is a distinct issue.  

See, e.g., Puget Sound, 102 Wash. at 490-91; Day, 76 Wn.2d at 416-17.  

There is no dispute here the Commission is an authorized entity.  As such, 

it falls within the relevant zone of interests of its authorizing statutes and 

has standing to challenge NHF’s lack of equivalent authority.   

Finally, the Court of Appeals reasoned that the Commission lacks 

standing in part because HUD’s Mortgagee Review Board (“MRB”) can 

“enforce HUD rules . . . .”  Op. at 8.  As this Court noted in RAC, 

however, the applicability of federal rules does not undercut the distinct 

role of state law—including the allocation of state authority—for purposes 

of such a cooperative federal program.  177 Wn.2d at 429-30 (discussing 

framework of “cooperative federalism”).  Further, this Court has held that 

the allocation of state and local government authority in Washington is an 

issue “peculiarly within the province of the courts of this state,” even 

when that authority intersects with a federal program.  City of Tacoma v. 

Taxpayers of Tacoma, 49 Wn.2d 781, 791, 307 P.2d 567 (1957) 

(adjudicating municipality’s authority to condemn property in relation to 

federal permit authorizing such condemnation).3    

                                                 
3 City of Tacoma was reversed due to res judicata: the plaintiff was challenging a 
particular project, the dispute had been “finally determined” in “earlier litigation between 
the parties” in federal court, and Congress had designated such review “exclusive.”  357 
U.S. 320, 334-37, 339, 78 S. Ct. 1209, 2 L. Ed. 2d 1345 (1958).  None of these factors 
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Within the mortgage insurance program in particular, special 

privileges are afforded to authorized state and local entities.  See 12 U.S.C. 

§ 1735f-6; FHA Rule.  And the Legislature has delegated authority to the 

Commission for this purpose—as a matter of Washington law.  See RAC, 

177 Wn.2d at 430 (noting authorized entities remain “subject to state law,” 

which “establishes [the entity] in the first place, defines [its] powers and 

obligations, and addresses various ancillary matters related to [its] 

operation”).  The Commission thus has standing to challenge NHF’s lack 

of such authority as a matter of state law in state court, regardless of any 

federal apparatus for enforcing program rules.   

The Court of Appeals’ reference to the MRB is also especially 

problematic here because that body is limited to overseeing “mortgagees,” 

i.e., lenders—not entities invoking state government authority to subsidize 

down payments, like NHF or the Commission.  See 12 U.S.C. §§ 1707(b), 

1708(c)(1).  Lenders could not be and are not expected to resolve disputes 

between ostensibly public entities over the allocation of government 

authority in each state.  Nor is the MRB equipped to do so.  Indeed, the

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