FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/10/2018 2:23 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96063-1

Court of Appeal No. 76510-8-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE HOUSING FINANCE COMMISSION, Petitioner,

v.

NATIONAL HOMEBUYERS FUND, INC., et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

101 Mission St., 18th Fl. San Francisco, CA 94105 (415) 371-8500

One Union Square 600 University St., 27th Fl. Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 467-1816

KERR & WAGSTAFFE LLP

James Wagstaffe, CA Bar No. 95535 Michael von Loewenfeldt, CA Bar No. 178665

McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC

Avi J. Lipman, WSBA No. 37661 Theresa M. DeMonte, WSBA No. 43994

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

Ignoring this law, the Commission attempts to manufacture for itself a private right to enforce HUD underwriting guidelines against NHF. The Commission suggests standing arises out of the fact that, in general, federal housing programs involve "cooperative federalism." Pet. at 15-16. Setting aside the fact that downpayment assistance does *not* involve any such "cooperative federalism," the Commission fails to mention that standing

_

⁴ The cases the Commission cites involve very different federal housing programs where the federal government gives money to designated state agencies for use and distribution. For

existed in the cases it cites for reasons having nothing to do with cooperative federalism.

For example, *RAC* involved the Public Records Act (PRA). This Court held that the housing authority was still subject to the PRA notwithstanding its parallel regulation by HUD. *RAC*, 177 Wn.2d at 431-44. In other words, standing in *RAC* was predicated on the PRA, which itself gave the Council substantive rights to records. The Council, having requested certain grievance hearing decisions that the housing authority improperly withheld, certainly fell within the "zone of interests" of the PRA. Here, by contrast, HUD underwriting guidance does not give the Commission any private right that it can enforce.

In City of Tacoma v. Taxpayers of Tacoma, 49 Wn.2d 781, 307 P.2d 567 (1957), rev'd on other grounds, 327 U.S. 320 (1958), this Court held that a federal statute cannot give a city the power to condemn state land previously committed to public use where the state did not give it that power. Id., 49 Wn.2d at 800. While the Commission cites the case accurately for the proposition that the powers of a state agency are "peculiarly within the

example, Resident Action Council v. Seattle Hous. Auth. (RAC), 177 Wn.2d 417, 429, 327 P.3d 600 (2013) involved a local housing authority established under a framework "in which state agencies are given broad responsibility and latitude in administering [federal] welfare assistance programs" under a form of "cooperative federalism." The housing authority was created by the Washington Legislature and "coordinated with HUD to receive federal assistance and is now subject to certain federal regulations." Id. at 429-30. No case has ever applied the "cooperative federalism" principle governing federal-state housing authority partnerships to downpayment assistance for FHA-insured mortgages.

province of the courts of this state," the Commission fails to mention that standing existed in that case because it was brought by taxpayers. It is well settled that taxpayers may have standing in certain "limited circumstances" to question the limits of governmental authority. *See Huff v. Wyman*, 184 Wn.2d 643, 649, 361 P.3d 727 (2015). But *City of Tacoma* provides no basis for standing here, where the Commission does not claim taxpayer status, and could not do so (and in any event, NHF is not acting in a governmental capacity).

Finally, the Commission's suggestion that it may have standing because HUD's Mortgagee Review Board does not directly regulate gift-givers like NHF (or, for that matter, a homebuyer's relative) only underscores why no standing exists here. HUD directly regulates its approved *lenders*, who are responsible for determining whether downpayment assistance comes from a source consistent with HUD's underwriting manual. If the lenders fail to ensure this, HUD can seek penalties and withdraw the lender's approval. The fact that HUD does *not* regulate providers of gift assistance provides one more reason that the Commission lacks a private right of action, and therefore lacks standing under the UDJA. Regardless, this point has no

-

⁵ The Commission's statement that "[l]enders could not be and are not expected to resolve disputes between ostensibly public entities over the allocation of government authority in each state," Pet. at 16, is beside the point. This case is about whether NHF, a nonprofit, may give Washington homebuyers cash gifts to be used toward a downpayment, not about any "allocation of government authority."

connection to RAP 13.4(b)(1), as no decision of this Court bears on the effectiveness of the Mortgagee Review Board and any implications for standing that might result.

The Commission has failed to show *any* conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and *any* prior decision of this Court concerning the zone of interests requirement. As a result, review should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

- 2. This Court of Appeals' alternative injury analysis is consistent with this Court's precedents
 - a. This Court has never held that, in the absence of a monopoly, loss of business through competition is a protected injury.

The Court of Appeals also held that "WSHFC's claims of injury are merely speculative." App. 10. The Commission argues that this conflicts with the Court's precedents that injury "is a modest requirement" where even the "potential for loss" is enough. Pet. at 18. The flaw in the Commission's argument is that the "potential injury" must be to a legally protected interest. The Commission points to no prior case from this Court holding that the competitive loss of market share, see App. 10, is a protected interest. See Hardin v. Kentucky Utilities Co., 390 U.S. 1, 5–6, 88 S. Ct. 651, 19 L. Ed. 2d 787 (1968) ("This Court has . . . repeatedly held that the economic injury which results from lawful competition cannot, in and of itself, confer standing on the injured business to question the legality of any aspect of its competitor's

operations."). The cases the Commission cites have no bearing on this question.

In Nat'l Elec. Contr. Ass'n v. Riveland, 138 Wn.2d 9, 978 P.2d 481 (1999), a group of electrical unions sought a declaration that the Department of Corrections had to comply with various state laws, including electric licensing, prevailing wage, and competitive bidding, before using inmate labor. This Court held that the unions had standing to sue because the union and its licensed members had a legally protected pecuniary interest in competing for the work. Id. at 25. In Wash. Ass'n for Substance Abuse & Violence Protection v. State, 174 Wn.2d 642, 653, 278 P.3d 632 (2012), this Court held that an individual and a non-profit corporation had sufficient injury for standing to challenge the restricting of Washington's regulation of liquor because the individual had leased property from the state to sell liquor under the prior regime and the non-profit's "goals of preventing substance abuse could be reasonably impacted" by the new laws. Neither case recognizes the type of broad competitor standing, untethered to specific state regulations, asserted by the Commission.

-

⁶ The Commission also cites *City of Burlington v. Wash. State Liquor Ctrl. Bd.*, 187 Wn. App. 853, 351 P.3d 875 (2015), where the City sued the Board for granting an alcohol license near a high school in the City. The Court of Appeals found that the City "demonstrated that minors regularly come into contact with the minimart and that criminal activity is common in the area" and thus that the use was inconsistent with the City's land use planning. *Id.* at 869-70. That obviously bears no relationship to this case.

"sufficient to satisfy the injury-in-fact requirement." Pet. at 17. (quoting Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Apprenticeship & Training Council, 129 Wn.2d 787, 920 P.2d 581 (1996)). Once again, the elided words matter, as the case the Commission cites does not stand for such a broad proposition. Instead, the Court held that a regulated party can sue the agency regulating it and noted that "[t]he United States Supreme Court 'routinely recognizes probable economic injury resulting from agency actions that alter competitive conditions as sufficient to satisfy' the injury-in-fact requirement." Id. at 795 (citation omitted). The case in no way suggests that competitors can sue each other whenever "competitive conditions" change.

b. This Court has never held that a government agency can sue anyone offering services that the agency believes are inconsistent with its "goals."

The Commission next argues that it has suffered injury to a legally protected interest because NHF gives homebuyers grants rather than loans. This argument is specious. First, the Washington Legislature has not attempted in any way to regulate this area, much less to prohibit persons from providing gifts or grants. RCW 43.180.050(1)(d) regulates what *the Commission* does, not what any other entity should do. The legislature's determination that *the Commission* should make loans instead of making

potentially unconstitutional gifts of public funds⁷ does not establish a policy that other entities should not make downpayment assistance gifts.

Second, public agencies do not have a free-standing power to sue any private party acting in a manner the agency claims is inconsistent with its "goals." See Dir., Office of Workers' Comp. Programs, Dep't of Labor v. Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co., 514 U.S. 122, 132, 115 S. Ct. 1278, 131 L. Ed. 2d 160 (1995); Wash. State Human Rights Comm'n ex rel. Spangenberg v. Cheney Sch. Dist. No. 30, 97 Wn.2d 118, 126, 641 P.2d 163 (1982).

The Commission attempts to analogize to *Wash. Ass'n for Substance*Abuse and Violence Protection, but, as discussed above, that case involved a private association's standing to challenge legislation. 174 Wn. at 653. It does not create an all-purpose standing rule allowing competitors to sue each other for "violating" the other's "goals."

c. This Court has never held that a government agency like the Commission has standing to sue for alleged injury to its customers or mission.

Finally, the Commission argues that "public agencies suffer a representative injury when their constituents are affected or their mission is frustrated." Pet. at 19. The Commission claims that it has a broad "duty" to "promote Washington's housing finance policies and serve its residents." *Id.*

16

⁷ See *Gen. Tel. Co. of Nm. v. Bothell*, 105 Wn.2d 579, 588, 716 P.2d 879 (1986) ("[F]or purposes of Const. art. 8, § 7, a gift is a transfer of property without consideration and with donative intent.").

The Commission's argument, if accepted, would give it standing to sue any person or entity involved with housing finance in Washington.

A governmental entity may only assert claims on behalf of its citizens if it has been authorized to do so. *Grant Cty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. Cty. of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 804, 83 P.3d 419 (2004) (fire districts have no representative standing on behalf of their citizens). Here, the Commission has not been granted such power. It is the Washington Attorney General who has plenary power to sue to enforce laws. RCW 23.95.555; *see also State v. Nat'l Mercantile Co.*, 87 Wash. 108, 109, 151 P. 244 (1915). The Commission is simply one participant in the market for downpayment assistance. App. 7-8.

Contrary to the Commission's argument, nothing in *City of Seattle* supports the broad standing rule the Commission attempts to draw from it. There, the Court held that the City could challenge special legislation under article 11, section 10 of the state constitution, which would affect its ability to annex territory, and could assert an equal protection claim on behalf of its potential residents to determine whether the process by which it annexes territory is constitutional. *City of Seattle v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 663, 669, 694 P.2d 641 (1985). The case recognizes an entity's clear, logical interest in challenging laws that directly govern its *own* conduct, not a broad rule that an agency may challenge the conduct of *another* entity whenever it might somehow affect its "mission."

The Commission's citation to *Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1* is equally inapposite. That case involved a school district's complicated challenge to the State's method of funding public education. *Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1 v. State*, 90 Wn.2d 476, 485-86, 585 P.2d 71 (1978). This Court held that the school district clearly had standing to challenge the constitutionality of the school financing system.

[W]hat could be more fundamental to the maintenance of schools, and an educational program, than an action seeking to obtain sufficient revenue to keep a district operating with its basic programs intact so as to comply with the mandate of Const. art. 9, §§ 1 and 2? What could be more fundamental than respondent District's need for review of a system of public school financing that undermines its means of existence? When school districts are forced into litigation or potential litigation as parties defendant, how can it be said they lack sufficient interest to challenge the constitutionality of the very system of financing which forces them into that untenable position?

Id. at 494.

Seattle School District No. 1 thus involved a direct challenge by the District to the very laws that funded it and enabled its existence. The case in no way holds that an agency has standing to sue a competitor whenever it believes its "constituents are affected or [its] mission [is] affected." Pet. at 19.

There is little doubt that the Commission would have standing to sue the State over the constitutionality of laws impacting the Commission's functions under *City of Seattle* and *Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*. But this is not such a case. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the Commission has not shown any injury to its legally protected rights is entirely consistent with this Court's

prior standing cases. For this reason too, review should be denied.

B. No Issue of Substantial Public Importance Is at Stake Warranting This Court's Intervention

Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is reserved for cases presenting issues "of substantial public importance that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Cases meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) have presented issues of great public importance, such as whether every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County over a period of several years was invalid based on an ex parte communication, *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005), whether the state or federal Indian Child Welfare Act permitted termination of a non-Indian's parental rights without a showing that efforts were first made to remedy parental deficiencies, *Matter of Adoption of T.A.W.*, 186 Wn.2d 828, 383 P.3d 492 (2016), or whether removal of an entire class of sex offenders from registration requirements—seriously affecting the public safety—was correct, *In re PRP of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 1092, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017).

This case raises no such issue. The Commission presents a single paragraph dramatically characterizing the case as bearing on the provision of decent housing for Washingtonians, economic stability, and avoiding a subprime mortgage crisis like the one triggering the 2008 recession. This overblown framing is inaccurate for many reasons, most fundamentally because this case presents a narrow question of standing relevant only to the

specific parties before the Court; i.e., whether the Commission has standing to seek the ouster of a competitor that gives cash gifts to homebuyers, including those in Washington, with the full cooperation of lenders across the nation, paired with mortgages that FHA subsequently insures as a matter of course. The Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. The Commission's Petition for Review should be denied.